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STATEMENT OF SUBJECT MATTER AND APPELLATE JURISDICTION

A. Basis for Subject Matter Jurisdiction in the District Court

David Darnell Whitehead was charged in a 42 count Indictment
along with two others with conspiracy to commit alien smuggling,
smuggling aliens and aiding and abetting, money laundering and aiding
and abetting, and various other related charges. He was convicted in
Count 1 of conspiracy to commit alien smuggling in violation of 8 U.S.C.
§ 1324(a)(1)(A)(W)(D), (A-1-2); in Counts 17 and 18 of smuggling aliens
and aiding and abetting in violation of 8 U.S.C. § 1324(a)(1)(A)@) and 18
U.S.C. § 2, (A-1, A-4); and in Counts 36, 37, and 40 with money
laundering and aiding and abetting, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §
1956(a)(2)(A), and 18 U.S.C. § 2. (A-3, A-4). The district court therefore
exercised jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Title 18 U.S.C. § 3231.

B. Basis for Jurisdiction in the Court of Appeals

This court has jurisdiction over appeals from final judgments of
the district court pursuant to Title 28 U.S.C. § 1291. A judgment of

conviction in a federal criminal case 1s a final order subject to appeal
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under Title 18 U.S.C. § 3742, Title 28 U.S.C. § 1291 and Rule 4 of the
Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure.

The district court entered the judgment from which this appeal
originates on August 23, 2022. (JA324). The notice of appeal was filed
on August 31, 2022. (JA331). A corrected judgment was entered on

September 7, 2022. (JA333).1

1 The offense ended date on page 2 of the original judgment
erroneously listed the year as 2022. The corrected judgment entered
the year 2020 on page 2 under the offense ended heading.

2
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STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1.  Whether the district court erred in denying the Defendant’s
motion for judgment of acquittal under Rule 29 of the Federal Rules of
Criminal Procedure for insufficiency of the evidence of conspiracy to
commit alien smuggling as charged in Count 1 of the indictment.

2. Whether the district court erred in denying the Defendant’s
motion for judgment of acquittal under Rule 29 of the Federal Rules of
Criminal Procedure for insufficiency of the evidence of smuggling aliens
and aiding and abetting as charged in Counts 17 and 18 of the indictment.

3.  Whether the district court erred in denying the Defendant’s
motion for judgment of acquittal under Rule 29 of the Federal Rules of
Criminal Procedure for insufficiency of the evidence of money laundering
and aiding and abetting as charged in Counts 36, 37, and 40 of the

indictment.
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On October 28, 2020, David Darnell Whitehead was charged along
with two other individuals in a 42 count indictment alleging
conspiracies to commit various types of alien smuggling, smuggling
aliens and aiding and abetting, transporting aliens for commercial
advantage, concealing, harboring and shielding aliens from detection,
forced labor, conspiracies to commit money laundering, and money
laundering and aiding and abetting. The lead defendant was Mr.
Whitehead’s wife, Martha Jakeline Zelaya-Mejia (Martha), and the
other co-defendant was Martha’s brother Blas Antonio Celaya-Padilla
(Blas). (JA16).

On November 16, 2021, Mr. Whitehead pled not guilty at his
arraignment. On December 14, 2021 his attorney filed a motion to
withdraw. (JA9). An order was entered granting the motion to
withdraw as attorney on December 16, 2021. New counsel was

appointed. (JA10).
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On April 22, 2022, the Government filed a motion to dismiss
Counts 2, 3, 19, 20, 21 and 22 of the indictment. (JA39). At a status
conference hearing on April 26, 2022, the motion was granted. (JA11).

The case came on for trial at the May 31, 2022 term of court in
Elizabeth City, North Carolina, the Honorable Terrence W. Boyle,
District Court Judge, presiding. The case went to trial against David
Whitehead only, on Counts 1, 4, 5, 17, 18, 26, 27, 36, 37, and 40. (JA45-
46). At the conclusion of the case, the defense counsel filed a motion for
judgment of acquittal under Rule 29 of the Federal Rules of Criminal
Procedure. (JA245). The motion was allowed as to Counts 4, 5, 26, and
27, and was denied as to Counts 1, 17, 18, 36, 37, and 40. (JA250).
Those counts were submitted to the jury on June 1, 2022. On said date,
the jury found Mr. Whitehead guilty of all submitted counts. (JA283,
312-313).

The case came on for sentencing on August 23, 2022, before Judge
Boyle. There were no objections to the final Presentence Report.
(JA363). David Whitehead was sentenced to 21 months per count,
concurrent, and to 1 year per count supervised release, concurrent.

(JA322, 324).
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Notice of appeal was filed on August 31, 2022. (JA331). A
corrected judgment was entered on September 7, 2022. (JA333).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 11, 2005 David Darnell Whitehead married Martha
Zelaya-Mejia (hereinafter Martha), lead co-defendant in this case. They
have five children. (JA355). This case involved a scheme by Martha to
bring female aliens and their children from Honduras into the United
States through Mexico. James Bryan Peterson, a defendant in a related
case (JA343), was a farmer in Pender County, North Carolina, which is
in the Eastern District of North Carolina. He purportedly gave Martha
large sums of money to bring several women in from Honduras because
he was looking for a wife. Martha had family contacts in Honduras that
assisted in making arrangements to transport women through Mexico
and across the border into the United States. Martha’s brother, co-
defendant Blas Antonio Celaya-Padilla (hereinafter Blas), was also
mvolved and acted at times as a courier, sometimes referred to as a
“mule” or “coyote”. (JA173).

The scheme involved bringing several women into the United

States from Honduras. They included Karen Menjivar, Alma Mendez,



USCA4 Appeal: 22-4499  Doc: 17 Filed: 02/17/2023  Pg: 13 of 38

Karen Ordonez, and a fourth women named Besay, who never reached
the United States. Peterson testified that he paid Martha $12,000 to
bring Karen Menjivar into the country (JA114), $20,000 to bring Alma
Mendez into the country (JA121), and $20,000 to bring in Karen
Ordonez. (JA123). It appears that Peterson was paying Martha to
bring him a wife, whereas she was telling the women they were coming
here to work for him. Peterson also paid Martha over $50,000 to bring
in Besay, however she never made it into the country. (JA131-132).

The scheme unraveled on August 9, 2019 when Karen Ordonez
placed a 911 call to the Pender County Sheriff’s Department claiming
she and her eight month old son were being held against their will at
Peterson’s house in Willard, North Carolina. Detective John
Leatherwood and female Deputy Scott responded to the call. (JA57-58).
Ms. Ordonez showed them marks on her where Peterson had tased her
with a stun gun. (JA62-64). A search warrant was obtained, and stun
guns, rope, bank transfers, cell phones, and texts were seized from
Peterson’s residence and vehicle. (JA67-62).

David Whitehead’s alleged participation involved Karen Ordonez

coming into the country. Ordonez testified that she and her son came to
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the United States in a boat driven by smugglers. She walked until she
was stopped by the Border Patrol. She met with Immigration
authorities and they released her. She went to her uncle’s house in
Texas, and was there about one month. Martha then paid for her to fly
from Texas to Boston, Massachusetts. (JA88-90). Martha and Peterson
had driven to Boston because Martha was scheduled to have an
abortion there. (JA184). All Peterson knew was that Martha was
having a “female operation”. (JA126). Peterson said he met Ordonez in
Boston, but came back alone to North Carolina because Martha told
him to leave. (JA126-127).

Martha testified that Peterson had to come back to North
Carolina, so she called her husband to come from North Carolina to
Boston to meet her and Ordonez. (JA185). Whitehead drove to Boston
to pick them up. However he and Martha had an argument, and
Whitehead left Boston and drove Ordonez back to Fayetteville, North
Carolina. (JA94-96, 192). Peterson picked Ordonez and her son up at
the Sheriff's Department in Fayetteville. (JA127).

The Government also offered evidence that David Whitehead

assisted with wire transfers to bring women into the United States.
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Martha testified that Ordonez and her little boy came in May or June of
2019 and that Whitehead was present and sent some wires. (JA181). It
was explained that the same person could not send all of the money
because it raised suspicion. (JA182). Homeland Security Agent
Thomas Swivel offered evidence that David Whitehead sent wire
transfers on May 17, 2019 and May 30, 2019. (JA230-232).

Further facts will be developed during the argument portion of the
brief.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

L. While there appears to have been a conspiracy to smuggle
undocumented immigrants into the United States, and that the
Defendant’s wife was the leader of that conspiracy, the Defendant
contends that there was insufficient evidence that he joined in the
conspiracy, or that he brought or attempted to bring to the United
States a person at a place other than a designated port of entry,
knowing that person was an alien. The evidence only shows that on one
occasion he drove to Massachusetts to bring an immigrant and her son
back to North Carolina at the request of his wife after a related

defendant, James Petersen, left them in Massachusetts. He further
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contends that the mere sending of wire transfers and MoneyGrams at
the request of his wife 1s not sufficient to make him a member of the
conspiracy.

II. The Defendant contends that there was insufficient evidence
that he knowingly brought a person to the United States at a place
other than a designated port of entry knowing that person was an alien
as charged in Counts 17 and 18 of the indictment. The fact the alleged
alien and her son had met with Immigration officials on two occasions,
were allowed to travel to her uncle’s home in Dallas, and were not
prohibited from flying to Boston to meet the Defendant’s wife and a
related defendant does not provide sufficient evidence that Mr.
Whitehead knew that the alien had arrived in the United States at a
place other than a designated port of entry. Also, Defendant’s lone trip
to Massachusetts to bring the alleged alien and her son back to North
Carolina appears to be more of a favor to his wife than participation in
a conspiracy to commit alien smuggling.

III. The Defendant contends that the fact he assisted with
sending wire transfers or MoneyGrams from North Carolina to a place

outside the United States was insufficient to prove that he knowingly

10
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intended to promote an unlawful activity, to wit: knowing that a person
1s an alien, bringing or attempting to bring such person to the United
States at a place other than a designated port of entry. The fact his
wife was from Honduras and had family and friends south of the United
States border does not mean the Defendant knew of or joined in the
unlawful activity. There are also legitimate reasons for a person to wire

funds from the Untied States to a place outside of the United States.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE
DEFENDANTS MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL
UNDER RULE 29 OF THE FEDERAL RULES OF CRIMINAL
PROCEDURE IN THAT THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE
THAT THE DEFENDANT KNOWINGLY CONSPIRED TO BRING
A PERSON TO THE UNITED STATES AT A PLACE OTHER
THAN A DESIGNATED PORT OF ENTRY KNOWING THAT
PERSON WAS AN ALIEN, AS CHARGED IN COUNT 1 OF THE
INDICTMENT.

A. Standard of Review:

The Fourth Circuit reviews a challenge to the sufficiency of the
evidence de novo, and will sustain the verdict if there 1s substantial
evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the government, to

support it. United States v. Caldwell, 7 F. 4t 191, 209 (4th Cir. 2021).

Substantial evidence 1s evidence that a reasonable finder of fact could

11
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accept as adequate and sufficient to support a conclusion of a

defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. See United States v.

Palomino-Coronado, 805 F. 3d 127, 130 (4th Cir. 2015), citing United

States v. Alerre, 430 F. 3d 681, 693 (4th Cir. 2005).

B. Discussion:

Count 1 of the indictment charged David Whitehead with
conspiracy to commit alien smuggling. 8 U.S.C. § 1324(a)(1(A)()(D)
provides criminal penalties for any person who engages in any
conspiracy to commit any of the preceding acts, to wit: bringing an alien
to the United States at a place other than a designated port of entry
[§ 1324(a)(1)(A)()], transporting an alien in violation of the law
[§ 1324(a)(1)(A)(1)], harboring an alien in violation of the law
[§ 1324(a)(1)(A)(ii)], and inducing an alien in violation of the law
[§ 1324(a)(1)(A)Gv)]. (A-1-2). In this particular case, the conspiracy
alleged in Count 1 was to knowingly conspire to bring or attempt to
bring to the United States a person at a place other than a designated
port of entry, knowing that the person is an alien. (JA19).

It 1s undisputed that a conspiracy to smuggle undocumented

immigrants existed. However, David Whitehead contends that there

12
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was insufficient evidence that he was aware of or joined the conspiracy,
that he knew the unlawful purpose of the plan and willfully joined in it,
or that he brought to or attempted to bring to the United States a
person at a place other than a designated port of entry, knowing that
person was an alien. The evidence only shows that on one occasion he
drove to Boston, Massachusetts to drive Karen Ordonez and her son to
North Carolina because his wife was there for a medical procedure and
Peterson had already returned to North Carolina without her. He also
claims that while he sent some MoneyGrams to Mexico, there was
msufficient evidence that he knew or was aware of the final purpose.
To establish an alien smuggling conspiracy, the Government must
prove an agreement to carry out one of the substantive offenses, and
that the defendant had the intent necessary to commit the underlying

offense. United States v. Torralba-Mendia, 784 F. 3d 652, 663 (9th Cir.

2015). The Ninth Circuit also cited United States v. Shabani, 513 U.S.

10, 13, 115 S. Ct. 382, 384, 130 L. Ed. 2d 225 (1994), holding that
conspiracies require an overt act only when explicitly stated in the
statute’s text. Torralba-Mendia’s conviction was affirmed. The

evidence showed that between 2007 and 2010 he transported suspected

13
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1llegal immigrants on multiple occasions, was seen at shuttle locations
between twenty and twenty-five times, and engaged in counter-
surveillance techniques to evade police. In the instant case, allegations
of one transportation event and several MoneyGrams is significantly

less than the evidence 1n Torralba-Mendia.

David Whitehead understands that a defendant challenging the
sufficiency of the evidence to support his conviction faces a heavy

burden. United States v. Dennis, 19 F. 4th 656, 665 (4t Cir. 2021),

citing United States v. Bonner, 648 F. 3d 209, 213 (4t» Cir. 2011). On

the other hand, while the burden is heavy, it is not insurmountable.

See United States v. Palomino-Coronado, supra at 130-132. In

Palomino-Coronado, the defendant was charged with coercing a minor

to engage in sexually explicit conduct for the purpose of producing a
visual depiction of that conduct. Finding this was a specific intent
offense, the Fourth Circuit reversed. It found that there was no direct
evidence or statements indicating the defendant’s intent of the sexual
activity was for the purpose of producing a picture. It concluded that to
hold otherwise would eliminate the specific intent requirement, turning

the statute into a strict liability offense. 805 F. 3d at 132.

14
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In United States v. Habegger, 370 F. 3d 441 (4th Cir. 2004), this

Court also found that there was insufficient evidence of trafficking in
counterfeit goods. Habegger was convicted of Count Two which alleged
that he trafficked in and attempted to traffic in 12 pairs of counterfeit
Eddie Bauer socks. However, the evidence showed that the socks were
sent as samples and there was never an agreement to purchase; and
therefore there was no consideration to satisfy the definition of “traffic”
in the statute. The Fourth Circuit reversed his conviction.

David Whitehead contends that in the instant case there was
insufficient evidence to show he conspired to commit alien smuggling.
The evidence from Karen Ordonez is that while she was waiting at the
border, she got in contact with her uncle who was able to receive her in
Dallas, Texas. (JA87). She answered in the affirmative that when she
crossed she went to a port of entry; however, upon further questioning
she stated she came in a boat with smugglers. (JA87-88). She began
walking, and was met by the border patrol, and was taken over to
Immigration. They told her to present herself two days later, which she

did. She was later allowed to go to her uncle’s house, and stayed in

15
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Texas for one month. (JA88-90). From there she and her son flew to
Boston on a flight paid for by Peterson. (JA90).

Martha testified that after Ordonez had been in Texas about one
month, she contacted Ordonez and told her it would be alright to stay
there with her family. About a month later she was messaged by
Ordonez that she wanted to come to North Carolina and work for
Peterson. (JA183). That is when Martha and Peterson arranged for
Ordonez and her son to fly to Boston, Massachusetts to meet them.

It is respectfully urged that the above scenario does not provide
sufficient evidence that David Whitehead joined the conspiracy or had
any knowledge that Karen Ordonez was illegally in the United States or
that she had entered the United States at a place other than a
designated port of entry. The evidence shows that she and her son had
checked in with Immigration, were not arrested or detained, they
resided in Texas with her uncle for some period of time, and then flew
to Massachusetts. Because Peterson had returned to North Carolina,
David Whitehead was asked to drive to Boston to bring Ms. Ordonez

and her son back to North Carolina.

16
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There is also insufficient evidence that Mr. Whitehead’s sending
some occasional MoneyGrams to Mexico showed his knowledge and
intent to join the conspiracy. Martha testified that Mr. Whitehead
knew her family was involved in bringing others into the country. She
further testified that her brother, co-defendant Blas, as well as her
father, stepmother, and cousins had been involved in the business.
(JA173-174). Understanding that many immigrants, both legal and
illegal, send money back home to family, the mere assistance in sending
MoneyGrams is not sufficient to support the conspiracy allegations
herein.

As previously noted, substantial evidence is evidence that a
reasonable finder of fact could accept as adequate and sufficient to
support a conclusion of a defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

United States v. Palomino-Coronado, supra at 130; United States v.

Alerre, supra at 693. David Whitehead urges that, even in a light most
favorable to the Government, there was insufficient evidence that he
was aware of or joined the conspiracy, that he knew the unlawful

purpose of the plan and willfully joined in it, or that he knowingly

17
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brought or attempted to bring an alien to the United States at a place
other than a designated port of entry.
For the foregoing reasons, the Defendant’s Rule 29 motion for

conspiracy to commit alien smuggling should have been allowed.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE
DEFENDANTS MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL
UNDER RULE 29 OF THE FEDERAL RULES OF CRIMINAL
PROCEDURE IN THAT THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE
THAT THE DEFENDANT KNOWINGLY BROUGHT A PERSON
TO THE UNITED STATES AT A PLACE OTHER THAN A
DESIGNATED PORT OF ENTRY KNOWING THAT PERSON WAS
AN ALIEN, AS CHARGED IN COUNTS 17 AND 18 OF THE
INDICTMENT.

A. Standard of Review:

See standard of review in Argument I.

B. Discussion:

Counts 17 and 18 of the indictment charged that on or about
January, 2018 and continuing through the date of the indictment,
David Whitehead did aid and abet smugglers known and unknown to
the grand jury, to knowingly bring, and aid and abet to bring, to the
United States K.N.O. and D.E.H., alien persons, with knowledge that

said persons were aliens, at a place other than a designated port of

18



USCA4 Appeal: 22-4499  Doc: 17 Filed: 02/17/2023  Pg: 25 of 38

entry. (JA27-28). K.N.O. was Karen Ordonez, and D.E.H. was her
eight month old son.

David Whitehead specifically incorporates herein by reference the
facts and arguments supporting Argument I, the conspiracy charge. In
addition, David Whitehead would specifically contend that there was no
evidence that he knew that Karen Ordonez and her son were brought to
the United States at a place other than a designated port of entry. Nor
was there any evidence that he attempted to conceal anything. When
Peterson left Martha and Ms. Ordonez in Boston and returned to North
Carolina, Mr. Whitehead was asked to go to Boston to bring them back.
Although he and his wife had an argument/altercation, and she did not
return at that time, Mr. Whitehead drove Ms. Ordonez and her son to
Fayetteville, North Carolina and let her out at the Cumberland County
Sheriff’'s Department, where she was picked up by Mr. Peterson. The
evidence indicates that Ms. Ordonez and her son had met with
Immigration officials, were cleared to go to her uncle’s residence in
Dallas Texas, that she had remained in Texas for one or two months,
and had flown to Boston prior to meeting Martha and Peterson.

Therefore there is insufficient evidence that David Whitehead aided

19
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and abetted bringing Ms. Ordonez and her son into the United States,
or that he had any knowledge whatsoever where or how she actually
entered the United States.

There are very few reported cases addressing the elements or issues
in Counts 17 and 18, which are alleged to violate 8 U.S.C. §
1324(a)(1)(A)(G). (A-1). A district court case within the Fourth Circuit
addressed the conspiracy statute and the substantive charges in United

States v. McTague, 2017 WL 1378425 (W.D. VA). The district court held

that because the superseding indictment did not allege that the
defendants brought an alien into the United States in violation of law or
at a place other than a designated port of entry, it lacked essential
elements contained in § 1324(a)(1)(A)(1)-Gv) and must be dismissed.
Pertinent language specifically addressing § 1324(a)(1)(A)() is repeated
herein:

“But it 1s not enough to allege that a person
transported, harbored or induced an alien to enter
or work in the United States. Subsections §
1324(a)(1)(A)(1)(ii), and (iv) require that such acts
be undertaken ‘in violation of law,” which element is
nowhere to be found in the indictment. While
subsection § 1324(a)(1)(A)(i), concerning bringing
an alien to the United States, does not contain the
‘in violation of law’ element, it does contain the
wholly separate element that the alien be brought
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‘at a place other than a designated port of entry or
place other than as designated by the
Commissioner.” This element too is not found in
Count Seven. The allegations set forth in the
introduction to the Superseding Indictment do not
fill in the elemental gap.”

2017 WL 1378425 at *8.

David Whitehead is not alleging that the indictment in his case is
insufficient on Counts 17 and 18. He merely cites the McTague case to
demonstrate the importance of the elements herein. He urges that
there was insufficient evidence that he knew Karen Ordonez and her
son had entered the United States at a place other than a designated
port of entry or that he willfully transported Karen Ordonez and her
son from Boston to North Carolina knowing they had entered the
United States at a place other than a designated port of entry.

Based on the foregoing, David Whitehead respectfully contends
that Counts 17 and 18 should have been dismissed pursuant to his Rule

29 motion.

21



USCA4 Appeal: 22-4499  Doc: 17 Filed: 02/17/2023  Pg: 28 of 38

I1I.

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE
DEFENDANTS MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL
UNDER RULE 29 OF THE FEDERAL RULES OF CRIMINAL
PROCEDURE IN THAT THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE
THAT THE DEFENDANT KNOWINGLY TRANSFERRED
MONETARY INSTRUMENTS AND FUNDS FROM A PLACE IN
THE UNITED STATES TO A PLACE OUTSIDE THE UNITED
STATES WITH THE INTENT TO PROMOTE AN UNLAWFUL
ACTIVITY, TO WIT: KNOWING THAT A PERSON IS AN ALIEN,
BRINGS OR ATTEMPTS TO BRING TO THE UNITED STATES
SUCH PERSON AT A PLACE OTHER THAN A DESIGNATED
PORT OF ENTRY, AS CHARGED IN COUNTS 36, 37, AND 40 OF
THE INDICTMENT.

A. Standard of Review:

See standard of review in Argument 1.
B. Discussion:

Counts 36, 37 and 40 of the indictment charged David Whitehead

with aiding and abetting money laundering in violation of 18 U.S.C. §

1956(a)(2)(A) and § 2. (A-3, 4). More particularly the indictment

charged that Mr. Whitehead, aiding and abetting, did knowingly

transport, transmit, and transfer monetary instruments and funds from

a place in the United States, to a place outside the United States, with

the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity, to

wit: knowing that a person is an alien, brings to or attempts to bring to
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the United States such person at a place other than a designated port of
entry. (JA33-35).
18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(2)(A) provides as follows:

(a) (2) Whoever transports, transmits, or transfers,
or attempts to transport, transmit, or transfer a
monetary instrument or funds from a place in the
United States to or through a place outside the
United States or to a place in the United States
from or through a place outside the United States-

(A) with the intent to promote the carrying
on of specified unlawful activity; . . . shall be
sentenced to a fine of not more than $500,000 or
twice the value of the monetary instrument or
funds involved in the transportation, transmission,
or transfer, whichever is greater, or imprisonment
for not more than twenty years, or both. (A-3).
Count 36 denominated a MoneyGram wire transfer in the amount of
$500 on May 17, 2019, Count 37 denominated a MoneyGram wire
transfer in the amount of $500 on May 17, 2019, and Count 40
denominated a MoneyGram wire transfer in the amount of $1,000 on
May 30, 2019. (JA33-34).
The district court judge charged the jury on the money laundering
counts substantially in conformity with the instruction requested by the

Government. (JA278-279). There were no objections to the jury

instructions. (JA281).
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David Whitehead contends that the district court erred in denying
his motion for judgment of acquittal on the money laundering counts.
While there was some evidence that he assisted with sending out
MoneyGrams from the United States to Mexico, there is insufficient
evidence that he did so with the intent to promote the carrying on of a
specified unlawful activity, to bring to the United States aliens with the
knowledge that said aliens entered the United States at a place other
than a designated port of entry.

As previously noted in Arguments I and II, Mr. Whitehead
contends that there was insufficient evidence that he had any
knowledge that Ms. Ordonez and her son came to the United States at a
place other than a designated port of entry. The fact she was in the
United States, had met with Immigration officials on several occasions,
had stayed with her uncle in Texas for one or two months, and was
eventually flown to Boston, Massachusetts support Mr. Whitehead’s
contention that he did not know she was an illegal alien or had the
knowledge that she entered the United States at a place other than a
designated port of entry. In fact, there is only vague evidence of where

exactly she entered the United States, and there is no evidence that
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David Whitehead was ever told where or how Ms. Ordonez and her son
entered the United States.
Based on the above, the Defendant contends that the three money

laundering counts should have been dismissed.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Defendant-Appellant David Darnell
Whitehead respectfully requests that his convictions be reversed, or
that he be granted a new sentencing hearing.

Respectfully submitted this the 17th day of February, 2023.

DUNN, PITTMAN, SKINNER & CUSHMAN, PLLC
Counsel for Defendant-Appellant
David Darnell Whitehead

By: /s/ Rudolph A. Ashton, III
RUDOLPH A. ASHTON, III
State Bar No. 0125
3230 Country Club Road
Post Office Drawer 1389
New Bern, NC 28563
Phone: (252) 633-3800
Fax: (252) 633-6669
Email: RAshton@dunnpittman.com
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aircraft shall be granted clearance pending the determination
of the HNability to the payment: of sueh fine or while such fine
remains unpaid, except that clearance may he granted prioy to
the determination of such question upon the deposit of an
amound sufficient to cover such fine, or of a'bond with sufficient
surety to secure the payment thereof approved by the Commis-
sloner,: - - o ) o

(e} Remission or refund , :

Except as provided in subsection (e), such fine shall not be
remitted or refunded, unless it appears to the satisfaction of
the Attorney General that such person, and the owner, master,
commanding - officer, agent, charterer, and consignee of the
vessel or aircraft, prior to the .departure of the vessel or
alreraft- from the lagt port outside the United States, did not
know, and could not have ascertained by the exerecise of reason-
able diligence, that the individual transported was an alien and
that a valid passport or visa was required. '

(d) Repealed. Pub.L. 104-208, Diy. G, Title I, § 308(e)(13),
Sept. 30, 1996, 110 Stat. 3009-620 .
(e) Reduction, refund, or waiver .
A fine under this section may be reduced, refunded, or
waived under sueh regulations as the Attorney. General shall
preseribe in cases in which—-

(1) the carrier demonstrates that i‘t had screened all pas-
sengors on'the vessel or airveraft in accordance with proee-
dures preseribed by the Attorney General, or .

{2) ‘eircomstances exist that the Attorney General deter-

. mines would justify such reduction, refand, or waiver.

{(June 27, 1952, c. 477, Title If, ¢. 8, § 273, 66 Stat. 297; Pub.L. 101-649,
Title II, § 201(b), Title V, § 548(2)(10), Nov. 29, 1990, 104 Stat,;;5014,
5058; -Pub.L. 102-232, Title IIT, § S06(c)(4)D), Dec. 12, 1891, 105 Stat.
1752; Pub.L. 1034186, Title 17, §% 20%a), 216, 219(p), Oct. .25, 1994, 108
Stat. 4312, 4815, 4317; Pub.L. 104-208, D'i\(.- G, Title T, 8 308(c)(3),
{(e)(18), 371(h)(8), Title VI, § 671bYE), (D, Sept. 30, 1996, 110 Stat.
3009-618, 3009-620, 3009--645, 3008-722.) )

HISTORICAL NOTES ‘

References in Text S R :
. This chapter, referred to in subsec. (8)(1),- was in the original, “this
Act”, meaning Act June 27, 1952, e, 477, 66 Stat, 163, known as the
“Immigration and Nationality Aet, which is classified prineipally to this
chapter, For complete classification, see Short Title note set ouf under
section 1101 of this title and Tables,
Efféetive and Applicability Provisions . . —
1996 Acts. Amendment by section 808 of Diy. C of Pub.L. 104-208
effective, with certain exceptions and subject to certain transitionat
zules, on the first day of the first month beginning move than 189 days’
aftér Sept. 30, 1996, see section 809 of Div. C of Pub.1, 104-208, set out
as a note under seetion 1101 of this title. - L
Ameridment by section 871(b)(8) of Div. C of Pub.L, 104-208 effective
Sept. 30, 1996, see section STUd)(L) of Div. C of Pub.L, 104-208, set out
as a ndte under section 11071 of this title. : .
Amendment by section 671{b)EY, (T) of Div. G of Pub.L. 104-208

effective d3 if ineluded in the enaétment of Pub.L; 103-416, which was

" approved Oct. ‘25, 1994, seé- section 671L(b}(14) of Div. C of Pih.L.
104-208, set out as a note undey section 1101 of this title.

1994 "Acts. - Section 209(h) of ‘Pub.L. 108416, as amended Pub.L..
104-208, Div. C, Title VL, § 674(b)(8), Sept. 30,.1996, ‘110 Stat,
3009722, provided that: “The amendments made by this section

ALIENS AND NATIONALITY

[amending this section] shall apply with respect to aliens hrought to the
United States more than 60 days after the date of enactment of this
Act [Oct. 25, 1994)»

{Amendment by section 671'(b)(8) of Diy. C of Pub.L. 104-208 effee.
tive as'if included in the enactment of Pub.L. 103416, which wag
approved Oct, 25, 1994, see geetion - 671(bY(14) of Div. C of Pub.L.

104-208, set out as a note under section 1101 of this title,]

Amendment by section 219 of Pub.L. 108-418 effective ns if inclideq .
in the enactment of the Immigration Act of 1990, Pub.L. 101-649, 104
Btat. 4978, which was approved Nov. 29, 1990, except as otherwise :
specifically provided, see section 219(dd) of Pub.L, 103-416, set out as g
note under section 1101 of this titte. ~ -

1991 Acts. Amendments by sections‘S('}z through . 808 of Pub.l,

102-232, except as otherwise specifieally provided, effective as if inelud.
ed in

1. the enaétment of Pub.l.. 101-649, see section 310{1) of Puh.I,.
102-232, set out as & note under section 1101 of this title,
- 1990 Acts. Amendment by Pub.L. 101-649 effective as of Nov, 29,
1990, see section 201(d) of Pub.L, 101-649, set out as a note under
section 1187 of this title. c
Aniendment by section 543(a)(10) of Pub.L. 101-849 applicable to
actions taken after Nov. 29, 1990, see section 543(c) of Pub.L, 101649,
set out as a note under section 1221 of this title, -

Transfer of Functions

For abolition of Tmmigration and Naturalization Service, transfer of |
functions, and treatment of related references, see note set ont under § ¢
US.CA. § 1551 :

Severability of Provisions . . _ :
If any provision of Division C 6f Pﬁb.L_. 104-208 or the application ¢
such provision. to any person or cirenmstances is held to be unconstity
tionsl, the remainder of Division C of Pub.1.. 104-208 and the applica-
tion of the provisions of Division C of Pub.L. 104-208 to any person or
circumstance not to be affected therehy, see section 1(e) of Pub.L.
104-208, set out as a note under section 1101 of this title,

§ 1324. Bringing in and harboring certain aliens
(a) Criminal penalties -
(IXA) Any person who—

(i) knowing that a person is an alien, brings to or attempts
to bring to the United States in any manner whatsoever such
berson at a place other than a designated port of entry or

. place other than as designated by the Commissioner, regard-
less of whether such alien has received prior official anthori
zation to come to, enter, or reside in the United States and :

. regavdless of any future official action which may be taken
with respect to such alien; : e

(i) knowing or in reckless disregard of the fact that a

alien has come to, entered, or ¥emains in the United States in_

_ violation of law, transports, or moves or attempts to trans ;

port or move such alien within the United States by means of .

transportation or otherwise, in furtherance of such violatio
of law;

(iii) knowing or in reckless disregard of the fact that a
alien has come to, entered; or remains in:the United States in
violation of law, conceals, harbors, or shields from detaction
or attempts to eonceal, harbor, or shield from detection, such
alien in any place, ineluding any building or any means of
transportation; ‘ ’ . .

(v} encourages or induces an alien to come to, enter, ot
reside in the United States; knowing or in reckless disregard

For Corﬁp!ete Annotation Materials, see Unlied States Code Annotated
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he ©of fhe fact that such eoming to, entry, or residence is or will
1ig 2-be in violation of law; or 7 " .

(YD) engages in any conspiracy to commit any of the
_preceding gets, or - : : ‘

acts, ,
all be punished as _pr‘ovided in subparggraph (B).

B) A person who violates subparagraph (A) shall, for each
lien in respect to whom such a violation occurs—

v){I) or in the case of a violation of subparagraph (A)i), (i),
-or (iv) in which the offense -was done for the purpose of
.commercial advantage or private financial gain, be fined
nder Title 18, imprisoned not more than 10 years, or both;
, (1) in the ease of a violation of subparagraph (A)i), i),
{iv), or (v)(IY), be fined under Title 18, imprisoned not more
:than 5 years, or hoth; .

. (#ii) In the case of a violation of subparagraph (A)3), (i),
(i), (iv),
auses serious bodily injury (as defined in section 1365 of
~Title 18) to, or places in jeopardy the life of, any person, be
fined under Title 18, imprisoned not more than 20 years, or
‘both; and . . B ‘

(iv) in the case of a violation of subparagraph (A){), (i),
(i), (v), or (v) resulting in the death of any person, be
‘punished by death or imprisoned for any term of years or for
life, fined under Title 18, or hoth.

{C) It is not a violation of clauses ! {ii) or (iii) of subpara-

nited States, for a religious’ denomination having a bona fide
nprofit, religious organization in the. United States, or the
ents or officers of such denomination or organization, to
conrage, invite, call, allow, or enable an alien who is present
the ‘United States to perform the vocation of a minister or
ssionary for the denomination or organization in the United
fates as a volunteer who is not compensated as an employee,
twithstanding the provision of room, board, travel, medical
sistance, and other basic living expenses, provided the minis-
r missionary has been a member of ihe denomination_ for
least one year,

(2) Any person who, knowing or in reckless disregard of the
t that an alien has not received prior official authorization to
me to, enter, or reside in the United States, brings to or
empts to bring to the United States in any manner whatso-
such alien, regardiess of any offieial action which may
er be taken with respeet to such alien shall, for each alien in
Pect to whom a violation of this paragraph occurs— '

(A) be fined in aceordance with Title 18 or imprisoned not
more than one year, or both; or

(B) in the case of— , .

(i) an offense committed with the intent or with reason
10 believe that the alien unlawfully brought into the United
States will commit an offense against the- United States or

" any State punishable by imprisonment for more than 1
Year, '

(In aids{r or abets the commission of any of the preceding

(i) in the ease of a violation of subparagraph (A){) or

or (v) during and in relation to which the person -

aph (A), or of clause (iv) of subparagraph (A) except where 2 .
rson encourages or induces an alien to come to or enter the'

881324

(ii) an offense done for the purpose of commercial ad-
vantage or private financial gain, or
(iii) an offense in which the alien is not upon- arrival
immediately brought and presented to an appropriate im-
migration officer at a designated port of entry, '
be fined under Title 18 and shall be imprisoned, in the case
of a first or second violation of subparagraph (B)(ii), not
more than 10 years, in the case of a first or second violation
‘of subparagraph (B)({) or (BX(i1), not less than 3 nor more
than 10 years, and for any other violation, not less than & nor
more than 15 years, .

(3)(A) Any pérson who, during any 12-month period, know-
ingly hires for employment at least 10 individuals with actual
knowledge that the individuals are aliens deseribed in siibpara-
graph (B) shall be fined under Title 18 or imprisoned for not
roore than 5 yesrs, or both.. .

(B) An alien described in this subparagraph is an alien
who— ‘ -

(i) is an . unauthorized alen (as defined in section
1324a(h)(3) of this title), and

(ii) has been brought into the United States in violation of
this subsection. :

{4) In the case of a. person who has brought aliens fnto the
United States in violation of this subsection, the sentence
otherwise provided for may be increased by up to 10 years if—

(A) the offense was part of an ongoing commercial organi-
zation or enterprise;

(B) aliens weve transported in groups of 10 or more; and

(C)() aliens were transported in a mamner that endan-
gered their lives; or -

(ii) the aliens presented a life-'threatening health risk to
people in the United States. : i -

(b) Seizure and forfeiture
(1) In general ‘

Any conveyance, including any vessel, vehicle, or aireraft,
that has been or is being used in the commission of a
violation of subsection (a), the gross proceeds of such viola-
tion, and any property traceable to such conveyance or
proceeds, shall be seized and subject to forfeiture,

(2) Applicable procedures -

Seizares and forfeitures. under this subseetion shall be
governed by the provisions of chapter 46 of Title 18 refating
to civil forfeltures, including section 981(d) of such title,
“except that such duties as are imposed upon the Secretary of
the Treasury under the customs laws deseribed in that
section shall be performed by such officers, agents, and other
persons as may be. designated for that purpose by the
Attorney General, B

(3) Prima facie evidence in determinations of violations

In determining whether a violation of subsection (a) has
occurred, any of the following shall be prima facie evidence
that an slien involved in the alleged violation had not re-
ceived prior official authorization to come to, enter, or reside
in the United States.or that such alien had come to, entered,
ot remained in the United States in violation of law:

For Complete Annotation Materials, see United States Code Annotated
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sion, contracts for research with the Advisory Commission on Intergov-
ernmental Relations and the National Research Couneil, definitions,
appropriations, and termination of the Commission 60 days after sub-
missiod of its final report. '

{

Prioxity of State Laws

Enactment of this section as not indicating an intent on the part of
the Congress to oceapy the field in which this section operates to the
exclusion of State or local law on the same subject matter, or to relieve
any person of any obligation imposed by any State or Jocal law, see
section 811 of Pub.L. 91-462, set out as a Priority of State Laws note
under section 1511 of this title, .

* Commission on the Review of the National Pohcy Toward Gam-

bling

Sections 804 to 809 of Pub.L. 91452 established the Commission on
the Review of the National Poliey Toward Gambling, provided for its
membership and compensation of the members and the staff, empow-
ered the Commission to suhpoena witnesses and grant immunity,
requived the Commission to make a study of gambling in the United
States and existing federal, state, and local policy and practices with
respect to pr ohibition and taxation of gambling activities and to' make a
final feport of its findings and recommendations to the President and
to Congress within four years of its establishment, and provided for its
termination sixty days after submission of the final report. :

§ 1956. TLaundering of monetary instruments

‘(a)(1) Whoever, knowing that the plope1ty involved in a
financial transaction represents the proceeds of some form of
unlawful activity, conducts’ or attempts to conduct such-a
finangial  transaction which in fact involves the procee&s of
speclﬁed untawful activity—

(A)(1) with the intent to promote the cau-ymg on of speci-
fied unlawful activity; or

(ii) with intent to engage in conduct eonstituting a viola~
tion of section 7201 or 7206 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986; or

(B) knowing that the transaction is desighed in whole or
in part—

(i) to conceal or disguise the nature, the location, the
source, the ownership, or the control of the. proceeds of
specified unlawful activity; or

(ii) to avold a transaction repor ting requu ement under
State or Federal law,

shall be sentenced to-a fine of not more than $500 000 or twice
the value of the property involved in the transaction, whichever
is greater, -or imprisonment for not more than twenty years, or
hoth. For purpeses of this paragraph, a financial transaction
shall be eonsidered to be one involving the proceeds of specified
unlawfal activity if it is part of a set of parallel or dependent
transactions, any one of which involves the proceeds of speci-
fled unlawful activity, and all of which are part of a single plan
or arrangement. ' )

~ (2) Whoever tl'ansports; transmits, or transfers, 01"attempts
to transport, transmit, or transfer a monetary instrument or

funds from a place in the United States to or through a place

outside the United States or to a place in the United States
frrom or through & place outside the United States—

(A) with the intent to promote the carrymg on of speeiﬁed
unlawful act1v1ty, or

GENERAL PROVISIONS

Part

(B) knowing that the monetary instrument or funds in.

* volved in the transportation, transmission, or transfer repre.

sent the proeceds of some form of unlawful activity apg

knowing that such tr: ansportatlon, transmission, or transfer ig
designed in whole or in part—

(i) to conceal or disguise the nature, the location, the
sotree, the ownership, or thé control of the proceeds of
specified unlawful activity; or

(i) to avoid a transaction leportmg requn ement. tndey
State or Federal law,

shall be sentenced to a fine of not more than $500,000 or twieq
the value of the monetary instrument or funds involved in the
transportation, transmission, or transfer, whichever is greater,
or imprisonment for not more than twenty years, or both. "Fop
the purpose of the offense described in subparagraph (B), the
defendant’s knowledge may be established by proof that a law
enforcement officer represented the matter specified in subpar-
agraph (B) as true, and the defendant’s subsequent statements
or actions indicate, that the defendant belisved such repr esenta—
tions to be true.

(3) Whoever w1th the intent—

(A) to promote the cauymg on of spec1f1ed unlawfu] activi-
ty;
(B) to conceal or disguise the nature, location, source,
- ownership, or control of property beheved to be the pr oceeds
of specified unlawful activity; or

{C) to avoid a transaction reporting requu‘ement under
State or Federal law,

conducts or attempts to conduct a financial transaction involv-
ing property represented to be the proceeds of specified unlaw-
ful activity, or property used to conduct or facilitate specified
unlawful activity, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned

- for not more than 20 years, or both. For purposes of this

paragraph’ and paragraph (2), the term “represented” means
any representation made by a law enforcement officer or by
another person at the divection of, or with the approval of, 2
Federal official authorized to investigate or prosecute violations
of this section,

.(b) Penalties.—

(1) In general—Whoever conducts or atiempts to com-
duet a transaction described in subsection (a){1) or (a)(3), oF
section 1957, or a transportation, transmission, or transfer
described in subsection (a)(2), is liable to the United States

. for a civil penalty of not more than the greater of—
(A) the value of the property, funds, -or monetary in-
struments involved in the tlansactmn, or
(B) $10,000.

(2) Jurisdiction over foreign persons. —For pulposes of
adjudicating an action filed or enforcing a penalty ordered
under this section, the district courts shall have jurisdietion
over any foreign person, mcludmg any financial institution
authorized under the laws of a foreign country, against whom
the action is brought, if service of process upon the foreigh
person is made under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedur®
or the laws of the country in which the forelgn pexson is
found, and—
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Repealed
Rule 29(d) of Fed. Rules of Cr. Proc, amending Rules 12.2(c),
82(c)(2XB), and 32.1(b) of such Rules and enacting note provisions
under Hules 29, 32, and 32.1; amending sections 802, 812, 846, 873, 878,
and 881 of Title 21; amendmg sections 524, 992 to 994, and 1921 of
Titte. 28, amending sections 267, 300w-3, 300w—4, 9511, 10601, 10608,
and 10604 of Title 42; and amending section 1472 of ’I‘ltle 49; 1epea]mg
chapter 99 (sections 2031, 2032) and sections 4216 and 4217 of this title;
enacting note provisions under sections 204, 208, 1791, 1792, 2241, 3141,
3148, 3652, 3553, 3556, 8561, 8663, 3564, 3570, 3583, 3603, 3624, 3672,
3678, and b037 of this title, section 1921 of Title 28, and section 267 of
Title 42; amending note provision under section 8551 of this title; and
repealing note provisiohr under section 3143 of this title] may be cited as
the ‘Criminal Law and Procedure Technical Amendnients Act of 1986".”
1984 Acts. Pub.L. 98-478, Title 1I, § 200, Oct. 12, 1984, 98 Stat.
1976, provided that: “This t1t1e [PubL 98-478, Hitle II, §§ 201~2304
Oct. 12, 1984, 98 Stat. 1976-2194] may be cited as the ‘Comprehénsive
Crime Controi Act of 1984"." See Tables for class:ﬁeatlons

§. 2 Principals

(a) Whoever commits ‘an offense. against the United States
or alds, abets, counsels, commands, induces -or procures 1ts
commission, is pumshable ds 8 prmmpal

(b) Whoever willfully causes an act to be done whlch if
directly performed by him or another would be an offense
against the United States, is punishable as a principal.”

T17.)

§ 3. Aecessory after the fact )
Whoever, knowing that an offense against the Umted States
has been comnutted receives, relieves, comforts or assists the
~ offender in order to hinder or prevent his appr ehension, tmal or
punishment, is an aceessory after the fact. '

Except as otherwise expressly provided by any Act of Con-

gress, an accessory after the fact shall he imprisoned not more
than one-half the maximum term of imprisonment or (not\mth—
standing section 3671) fined not more than one-half the maxi-
mum fine preseribed for the punishment of the principal, or
both; or if the principal is punishable by life imprisonment or
death, the accessory shall be imprisoned not more than 15
years.
{June 25, 1948, ¢. 645, 62 Stat. 684 Pub.L. 99-6486, § 43, Nov. 10, 1988,
100 Stat. 3601; PubL 101-647, Title XXXV, § 3502, Nov. 29, 1990, 104
Stat. 4921; Pub.L. 103822, Title XXXIII, §§ 330011(h), 330016(2)(A),
‘Sept 13, 1994, 108 Stat, 2145 2148)

. HISTORICAL NOTES
Effective and Applicability Provisions '

1934 Amendments. Pub.L. 103-322, Title XXXIII, § 330011(h),
Sept. 13, 1094, 108 Stat. 2145, pw\uded in part that the amendment
made by such section, amendmg section 3502 of Pub.L. 101-647 (which
amended this section), was to take effect on the date section 3502 of
Pub.L.. 101-647 took effect; section 3502 of Pub.L. 101-647 took effect
on the date of enactment of Pub 1. 101-647, which was appr: oved Nov.
289, 1990

§ 4. Misprision of felony

Whoever, having knowledge of the actual commission of a
felony cognizable by a court of the United States, conceals and
does not as soon as possible make known the same to some
judge or other person in civil.or military authority under the
United States, shall be fined under this title or 1mpr150ned not
more than three years, or both.

GENERAL PROVISIONS

. § 5 United States defined

. Canal Zone.

(June 25, 1948 c. 645, 62 Stat 684; Oct. 31, 1951 ¢, 655, § 1Th, 65 Stat.

{(June 25, 1948, c. 645, 62 Stat. 684; Pub.L. 103-322, Title XXXIII
§ 330016(1)(G), Sept. 13, 1994 108 Stat 2147) - :

The term “United States”, as used in thls title in a tervitor
sense, includes all places and waters, continental or iyl
subject to the Jurisdiction of the Umted States, except ¢

(June 25, 1948, c. 645, 62 Stat. 685.) _
' HISTORICAL NOTES

References in Text
For definition of Canal Zone, referted to in text 5ee 22 US(}
§ 3602(b).

§ 6 Department and agency defined
As used in this title: ‘
The term “department” means one of the executive depar

ments enumerated in section 1 of Title b, unless the conte

shows that such term was intended to deseribe the executi
legislative, or judicial branches of the government.

The term “agency” includes any department, independe
establishment, comrmission, administration, authority, bo
buveau of the United States or any corporation in which
United States has a proprietary interest, unless the co
shows that such term was mtended to be used in a more hmi
sense.

(June 25, 1948, c. 645, 62 Stat 685)

HISTORICAIL 'NOTES .

References in Text )

Section 1 of Title 5, referred to in text, was repealed by P
89-Fbd, § 8, Sept. 6, 1988, 80 Stat, 632, and Teenacted by t:he
section thel eof 25 5 U.S.C.A. § 10L ‘ _ )

§ 1. SpeCIal marltlme and telrlteual _]urlsdlctmn of
United States defined

The term * spec1al maritime and territorial jur :sdmtmn o
United States” as used in this title, includes:

(1} The hlgh seas, any other watérs within the admﬂ'
and maritime jurisdiction of the United States and out 0
_]ul'lsdlctmn of any par ticular State, and any vessel bel
in whole or in part-to the Umted States or any
thereof, or to any corporation created by or under the.
the United States, or of any State, Territory, Distrl
possession thereof, when sueh vessel is within the ad
and maritime jurisdiction of the United States and out [
jurisdiction of any particular State. .

. (2) Any vessel reglstered hcensed or enrolled undel'
laws of the United States, and bemg on a voyage up
waters of any of the Great Lakes, or any of the
conmecting them, or upon the Saint Lawrence River.
the same constitutes the International Boundary Line.!

" (3) Any lands reserved or acquired for the use,

~ United States, and under the exclusive or eoncarrent
diction thereof, or any place purchased or otherwise ac
by the United States by consent of the legislature:
State in which the same shall be, for the erection of
.magazine, arsenal, dockyard, or other needful building:

For Cumplete' Annotation Malerials, see Unlted States Code Annofated
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